

Land Restoration Training Programme *Keldnaholt, 112 Reykjavik, Iceland*

Final project 2012

THE EFFECTS OF LIME ON pH VALUES OF SOIL AT DIFFERENT pH LEVELS

Murodjon Nasedjanov

Research Institute of Soil Science and Agrochemistry of the State Committee of the Republic of Uzbekistan on Land Resources, Geodesy, Cartography and State Cadastre St. Kamarniso-3, Almazar District, Tashkent, P.O. 100179, Uzbekistan *nmurodjon@gmail.com*

Supervisors

Dr Guðni Þorvaldsson Agricultural University of Iceland gudni@lbhi.is

Erla Sturludóttir Science Institute, University of Iceland *nem.erlas@lbhi.is*

ABSTRACT

An experiment on nitrogen fertilization (60-240 kg N/ha) was carried out for 42 years (1964-2005) at Sámsstaðir in Southern Iceland. Application of N during this period resulted in a decrease of soil pH, especially in plots that received high doses of nitrogen. These plots with variable pH values were used for a new experiment with different types and amounts of lime application, implemented in 2008. It included four treatments on each nitrogen plot: zero lime, 2 and 4 tons of lime with 35% Ca and 1.4% Mg and 4 tons of lime with 20% Ca and 12% Mg. Soil samples were collected in 2012. It was revealed that soil pH had increased in non-limed plots, especially in the most acid plots (240 N). In 7 years it increased by 0.44-0.86 pH units, probably due to the intense mineralization process in the soil. Additionally, liming application increased soil pH significantly at 0-5 cm soil depth (p<0.001). The pH increased linearly by 0.1 pH unit for each ton of lime applied and the lime effects were similar in all nitrogen plots. Only a very little effect of liming could be found at a 5-10 cm depth.

UNU Land Restoration Training Programme

This paper should be cited as:

Nasedjanov M (2012) The effects of lime on pH values of soil at different pH levels. United Nations University Land Restoration Training Programme [final project] http://www.unulrt.is/static/fellows/document/Nasedjanov2012.pdf

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	2
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	3
2.1 Classification of soil pH and its variation in soils	3
2.2 The negative effects of high and low pH values in soils	3
Factors affecting soil acidification	1
2.4 The pH adjustment ways in acid soils	1
2.5 Liming rate applied in grassland	5
2.6 Positive and negative effects of liming on soil properties	5
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	5
3.1 General information about study area	5
3.2 Experiment with nitrogen fertilizer	5
3.3 Experimental design for the liming treatment	3
3.4 Soil sampling 2012)
3.5 Laboratory work and pH analysis)
3.6 Statistical analysis)
4. RESULTS)
4.1 Change in pH with time in unlimed plots	1
4.2 Liming effect on soil pH values	1
5. DISCUSSION	3
5.1 Soil pH changes in non-limed plots	3
5.2 Liming effect on soil pH in topsoil	1
6. CONCLUSIONS	1
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
REFERENCES	5
APPENDIX 1)

1. INTRODUCTION

Soil pH represents the degree of soil acidity and alkalinity in a soil solution. It is below 6.5 in acid soils and above 7.0 in alkaline soils (Rowell 1994). The soil pH is naturally affected by climatic condition, soil parent material and vegetation cover, whereas acid-rain, fertilization and irrigation are considered as human-induced factors (Brady & Weil 2008). In acidic soils base cations (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, K⁺, Na⁺) and nutrients (P, N, S) are less available, whilst in alkaline soils minor elements (Zn, Cu, B, Mn, Fe) become less soluble. Plant communities and living organisms can be depleted or deteriorated in soils with very low or very high pH levels (Brady & Weil 2008).

In general, soil pH (measured in H_2O) in Icelandic soils is above 4.9, though it can fluctuate from 4.0 to 7.9. The pH of Andosols (FAO 2006), which cover 86% of Icelandic soils, is in the range of 5.5-6.5. It can be very low (pH 4.5-5.5) in Histosols (FAO 2006) in the western part of Iceland because of high precipitation and the least input of ash and aeolian deposition, while the pH of Vitrisols is almost 7.0 (Arnalds 2004, 2008). The soil pH can significantly increase due to aeolian flux and deposition of volcanic ash, or can decrease due to revegetation, drainage and cultivation activities (Arnalds & Kimble 2001; Gudmundsson et al. 2004; Arnalds 2008).

During the 1930-70s many experiments on different types and amount of fertilizers in grass fields were established in Iceland. A number of the experiments became long term, with the same amount and type of fertilizers for decades (Thorvaldsson et al. 2008). Some of these experiments showed acidification effects of certain types of nitrogen fertilizer, especially ammonium sulphate. However, long-term application of ammonium nitrate also decreased soil pH in small pH units, while calcium nitrate increased soil pH (Gudmundsson et al. 2008).

One of these experiments (No.147-64) was performed with an increased amount of ammonium nitrate (from 60-240 kg N/ha per year) and was run for 42 years (1964-2005). In 2005, soil samples were collected from the experiment and the results of soil pH analysis showed a pH decrease in topsoil layers, especially in the plots with high doses of ammonium nitrate (Thorvaldsson et al. 2008). In 2008, a new experiment with lime treatment was designed in the same field to research the effect of lime on soil pH. The results from this new experiment are presented in this study.

The main objective of this study was to assess the effect of different types and amounts of lime treatment on soil pH in the topsoil layers. The research questions were:

- How is soil pH affected if fertilization treatment is stopped?
- How does different lime treatments affect soil pH?
- What is a favourable lime treatment for soil pH adjustment?

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Classification of soil pH and its variation in soils

Soil pH can be arranged into five classes based on soil acidity or alkalinity level. Each class has a certain variation of soil pH. The first class includes acid sulphate soils which are below 4.5 and therefore extremely acid. In the second class, the pH varies from 4.5 to 5.5 and is considered very acid. The most favourable pH condition for nutrient availability is in the range of 5.5 and 7.2 referred to as acid and neutral soils, respectively. The fourth class is for alkaline soils with a pH level of 7.2-8.5 found in carbonate rich soils. The last class contains pH levels above 8.5, indicating sodic¹ or saline-sodic soils where sodium carbonates become dominant (Thomas 1996; FAO 2012).

A classification or interpretation of soil pH is based on established pH methods (Thomas 1996; Brady & Weil 2008). The values of pH for the same soil sample can differ by up to 1 pH unit depending on the method used. The most used methods for soil pH measurements are to make soil suspensions with: i) water (distilled, deionized), or ii) an unbuffered solution such calcium chloride (0.01 M CaCl₂), and iii) with potassium chloride (1 M KCl) (Thomas 1996; Elberling & Matthiesen 2007; Brady & Weil 2008).

Soil pH varies considerably in soils. It can vary naturally from 7.6 to 8.3 in Calcisols (FAO 2006) due to an abundance of CaCO₃ (Thomas 1996), while soil pH in Durisols can be as low as 5.0 or as high as 10, but the pH values are typically between 7.5 and 9.0 (FAO 2006). However, soil pH can change more or less due to vegetation cover. For instance, soil pH_(H2O) in grass and shrub pastures was found to be from 4.4 to 4.9 in Umbrisol (FAO 2006, Dümig et al. 2008). The pH_(H2O) was 4.3 and 4.7 for pasture and forest (*Cryptomeria japonica*), respectively (Bartoli et al. 2007), while it was 5.6 in a crop field in Silandic Andosols (Kusa et al. 2006).

2.2 The negative effects of high and low pH values in soils

Soils with $pH_{(H_{2O})}$ above 8.5 are toxic to many plants (Brady & Weil 2008) due to dominance of alkaline salts such as sodium carbonate (Na₂CO₃) or sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO₃) which can cause depletion of plant growth, damage in photosynthesis and imbalance of nutrients (Chen et al. 2011). For example, in China, a reduction in the survival rate of salt tolerant grass species (*Aneurolepidium chinense*) was observed at a pH above 8.8 (Shi & Wang 2005).

Micronutrients such as iron (Fe), zinc (Zn), and manganese (Mn) can be reduced to yieldlimiting levels at high pH levels (Sims 1996). Boron (B⁻) deficiency is common in alkaline soils because it is tightly bound in the clay part. In contrast, molybdenum (Mo) solubility is high and can exceed toxicity level in alkaline soils. Phosphorus (P) can also be deficient in alkaline soils due to an abundance of calcium and magnesium. It can react with cations, particularly with calcium, by forming calcium-phosphate compounds that become increasingly insoluble in alkaline soils (Brady & Weil 2008).

Soils with low pH suffer from deficiency of nutrients such as calcium (Ca^{2+}), magnesium (Mg^{2+}) and phosphorus (P). A pH below 5.0 inhibits availability of phosphorus (Haigh 1998; Kaihura et al. 1998) and the activity of cation exchange capacity (Baumann et al. 1998;

¹ According to Brady & Weil (2008): It is also called *alkali* soil which in most cases is confused with *alkaline* soil. "*Alkali*" is an obsolete term for what is now called *sodic* or *saline-sodic*.

Berthrong et al. 2009). Soil acidity can also have a negative effect on living organisms in soils. For instance, in the Czech Republic, a body mass decrease of Enchytraeidae worm (*Cognettia sphagnetorum*) was found after two years in soil with a pH level of 4.3 (Sustr et al. 1997).

Iron (Fe³⁺) can reach toxic levels for plants at pH lower than 4.0, while hydrogen (H⁺) can damage root membranes at pH levels between 4.0 and 4.5 (Brady & Weil 2008). In very acidic soils (pH 4.5-5.5) aluminium (Al³⁺) toxicity affects plant metabolism where roots containing Al become shortened and thickened and unable to adequately take up water and nutrients, particularly phosphate (Rowell 1994). Like aluminium, manganese can be very soluble as pH drops, but its toxicity level in soils increases at a pH as high as 5.6 (Brady & Weil 2008).

Factors affecting soil acidification

Soil acidification can occur due to high precipitation in humid regions, leaching or washout of base cations, high elevation and vegetation growth (Smith et al. 2002). Several internal factors can cause soil acidity, such as released hydrogen (H^+) during decomposition of organic matter and nitrification, organic acids discharged from vegetation and plant roots, carbonic acid (H_2CO_3) derived from CO₂ emitted by roots, and microbial respiration (Rowell 1994; Oh and Richter 2004).

Soil acidification can also be induced by afforestation with pine trees of the genus *Pinus* and other conifers (Farley & Kelly 2004; Berthrong et al. 2009), use of sludge amendment in crop fields (Brallier et al. 1996), application of N-containing fertilizers, such as ammonium sulphate in grass fields under long-term use (Gudmundsson et al. 2004), ammonium nitrate under greenhouse conditions (Zhou et al. 2010), and urea in forest surface soils (Mitchell & Smethurst 2004).

Gases such as sulphur dioxide (SO₂) and oxides of nitrogen (NO_x) emitted from industries react with substances in the atmosphere to form nitric (HNO₃) and sulphuric acids (H₂SO₄) that return to the land surface with precipitation; so called acid rain. The pH of the acid rain is between 4.0 and 4.5 while normal rainwater has a pH of 5.5. The dissociation of these acids into H⁺ cations and NO₃⁻, SO₄²⁻ anions causes acidification in soils (Brady & Weil 2008).

2.4 The pH adjustment ways in acid soils

Soil acidity is an unfavourable condition for most plants to grow in. Even though some plants, such as potato, blueberry, shrubs and a large number of grass species, are acid tolerant and can grow at pH levels of 5.0-5.5, most crops such as corn (*Zea mays* L.), soybean (*Glycine max* L. Merr.) and wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) are most productive at a soil pH of 6.0 (Sims 1996).

Soil acidity has been controlled since the Renaissance $(14^{th}-17^{th} \text{ centuries})$ in Europe (Christie et al. 2001). People tried to control soil acidification based on optimum plant growth, not knowing the precise chemical characteristics of lime. At present, limestone such as calcite (CaCO₃) or dolomite (Ca•MgCO₃) is mostly recommended to adjust acid soil pH because of its effectiveness and because it is financially economical (Sims 1996). Calcium and magnesium bicarbonates are much more soluble and quite reactive in soils when it comes to replacing acid cations such as hydrogen (H⁺) and aluminium (Al³⁺) in colloidal complexes

(Brady & Weil 2008). For instance, calcitic limestone (5% CaCO₃) can neutralize 1 g H⁺ kg⁻¹ or 2500 kg H⁺ ha⁻¹ in topsoil layers (Rowell 1994). It is advised to break down the limestone finely and sieve it through a 60-mesh screen (<0.25 mm in diameter), as larger lime aggregates react slowly with soil particles. In humid regions limestone should be regularly applied every 3 to 5 years (Brady & Weil 2008).

The pH of acid soils can be partly controlled by applying by-product material with alkaline properties. For example, in England defecation lime from sugar processing factories is commonly used in farming to balance soil acidity (Masharipova 2006), or linz-donawitz slag produced by the iron and steel industry is applied on pastures in northern Spain to increase soil pH (Pinto et al. 1995). In Australia, red lime and alkaloam waste-derived products are used to adjust soil pH and to reduce the mobility of toxic elements (Carter et al. 2009). In addition, biochar (or charcoal), which is alkaline, can also be used to raise soil pH and exchangeable base cations in acid soils (Yuan & Xu 2011).

2.5 Liming rate applied in grassland

Different liming rates are used in grassland to target suitable pH levels. The liming rate of 3.7 t ha⁻¹ was established to adjust soil to pH 5.5 (0.01 M CaCl₂) over a 6 year period on pasture land sown with ryegrass and subterranean clover (*Trifolium subterraneum*) in south-east Australia (Ridley et al. 2001). In England, Wales and Scotland the liming rate was at 2.5 t ha⁻¹ for grassland to maintain soil acidity and to avoid yield loss (Chalmers 2001), whilst in Ireland for grassland with mineral soils the it was advised target was pH_(H2O) 6.2, incorporated with a liming rate of 6.7 t ha⁻¹ during a 4- to 5-year liming cycle (Tunney et al. 2010).

2.6 Positive and negative effects of liming on soil properties

It is well established that liming has positive effects on soil properties (Rowell 1994; Sims 1996; Brady & Weil 2008). As an example, dolomitic lime applied at 6 t ha⁻¹ enriched organic carbon (TOC) in the topsoil 0-2.5 cm layer (Briedis et al. 2012). Soil respiration and content of nutrients (Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} and P) including pH level were increased linearly with increased liming rates and reduced acid cations (H⁺, Al³⁺) (Marcelo et al. 2012). Liming treatment (80%, CaCO₃) significantly elevated the pH level in acid soil from 3.5 to 6.5 by immobilizing heavy metals in ryegrass (*Lolium perenne* L.) (Antoniadis et al. 2012).

Grassland with the species *Agrostis* and *Festuca* was limed with $CaCO_3$ at a rate of 600 g m² which resulted in higher biomass production and carbon flux in shoots compared to unlimed plots (Castro et al. 2004, 2005). A similar result on carbon accumulation by shoots was observed in limed grassland with a strong relationship (P<0.008) between shoot biomass and excess of carbon (¹³C) in shoots (Johnson et al. 2002).

However, in some cases liming can disturb living organisms or induce nutrient leaching in soils. For example, liming performed in two catchments in a forest area at a dose of 2.5 t ha⁻¹ (dolomite with 70% CaCO₃ and 17% MgCO₃) significantly lowered the total number of micro-invertebrate species in both catchments (Auclerc et al. 2012). Another study revealed leaching of nitrate (NO₃⁻-N) associated with liming at a rate of 3.7 t ha⁻¹ in pastures containing annual (*Lolium rigidum*) and perennial grasses (*Phalaris aquatica* and *Dactylis glomerata*). The highest loss of N was 9 and 15 kg N ha⁻¹ for non-limed and limed annual pastures, respectively (Ridley et al. 2001).

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 General information about study area

The study area is located at the Sámsstaðir farm in Fljótshlíð, East Rangárþing municipality, south Iceland (N63°44'06'', W20°06'25'', 60 m.a.s.l.) (Fig. 1). The soil is Silandic Andosol (Thorvaldsson et al. 2008; Gudmundsson 2008; Gudmundsson et al. 2008). The experiment was located on a south facing slope. Mean annual temperature 1931-1962 was 5.0°C and precipitation was 1103 mm per annum (Veðráttan 1962).



3.2 Experiment with nitrogen fertilizer

In 1964 an experiment with increasing amounts of nitrogen was established at Sámsstaðir. This experiment was fertilized and harvested for 42 years (1964-2005). The experimental design is shown below as well as the nitrogen treatments (Fig. 2).

Plot size was 36 m² (6x6 m). Each treatment was replicated 4 times and fully randomized within each block of the experiment. Additional fertilizer was 26.2 kg of phosphorus and 49.8 kg of potassium per hectare every year. There was no ploughing introduced during the experimental period. The grass was cut two times annually after being fertilized.

In 2005, soil samples were taken from all plots in the experiment. Different analyses were performed on these samples, for example measurement of pH. The mean values of soil pH are given in Table 1. The effect of nitrogen treatment on soil pH in the topsoil was significant (p<0.001). See table A in the appendices. The pH data were obtained from Guðni Thorvaldsson (unpublished).

	Е	С	А	D
• $60 \text{ kg N/ha} = \mathbf{A}$	D	В	Е	С
• $120 \text{ kg N/ha} = \mathbf{B}$ • $150 \text{ kg N/ha} = \mathbf{C}$ • $180 \text{ kg N/ha} = \mathbf{D}$	С	Α	D	В
• $240 \text{ kg N/ha} = \mathbf{E}$	В	Е	С	А
	A	D	В	Е

Fig. 2. Design of nitrogen experiment at Sámsstaðir farm in south Iceland.

The main grass species in the plots in the year 2005 was *Agrostis capillaris*. Other important species were *Festuca rubra*, *Alopecurus pratensis*, *Poa pratensis* and *Taraxacum officinale*. The plots with the highest rate of nitrogen had much more *Agrostis capillaris* than the other plots, or 86% (Guðni Thorvaldsson, unpublished data). The experimental area was not fertilized and harvested after the soil sampling in 2005.

Table 1. Mean values of soil $pH_{(H2O)}$ after treatment with ammonium nitrate (NH_4NO_3) for 42 years, data from 2005.

Nitrogen treatment	Topso	ll layers
kg N ha ⁻¹	0-5 cm	5-10 cm
Unfertilized (Zero)	5.93	6.02
60	5.49	5.73
120	5.47	5.76
150	5.41	5.66
180	5.37	5.54
240	4.93	5.03

Monthly temperature and precipitation of the study area from 2005 are given in Tables 2 and 3.

Table 2. Monthly and annual temperature at Sámsstaðir in 2005-2011.

Voor	Average temperature, °C												
Tear	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Yearly
2005	-0.1	1.2	3.6	4.3	5.8	10.3	11.8	10.7	6.1	3.2	2.1	2.5	5.1
2006	2.0	3.6	0.9	2.0	6.5	9.7	11.2	11.6	10.6	5.4	1.5	2.6	5.6
2007	-0.6	1.1	2.0	5.9	6.2	10.8	12.1	11.3	7.9	6.0	2.7	1.4	5.6
2008	-0.2	-0.2	0.8	4.3	9.1	10.5	12.7	11.0	9.3	2.5	2.2	1.0	5.2
2009	2.2	0.9	0.7	5.7	7.5	10.3	12.2	11.4	8.1	5.9	3.7	0.9	5.8
2010	2.2	0.3	3.2	2.7	8.6	10.9	12.9	11.9	10.4	6.5	1.1	0.2	5.9
2011	1.7	2.2	0.4	4.5	7.2	8.7	12.0	11.1	9.5	5.3	4.6	-2.0	5.4

Voor						Averag	e precip	itation, m	m				
Tear	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Total
2005	78	91	25	16	17	82	103	67	112	73	87	113	864
2006	219	85	39	100	53	72	56	32	120	77	141	145	1137
2007	67	53	172	70	52	23	47	98	167	290	161	201	1401
2008	85	158	60	30	25	67	38	75	230	77	122	139	1106
2009	136	81	60	92	74	27	19	67	162	120	26	67	931
2010	136	25	95	60	52	37	34	105	84	40	24	72	763
2011	62	102	97	168	25	44	48	35	70	138	113	62	964

Table 3. Monthly and annual rainfall at Sámsstaðir in 2005-2011.

3.3 Experimental design for the liming treatment

In spring 2008 (May 13), a new experiment with lime treatment was started on the same nitrogen experimental plots at Sámsstaðir. Each plot (36 m^2) was divided into four 9 m² subplots (6 x 1.5 m). Four different lime treatments, including control (no lime), were introduced in the subplots. The lime treatment scheme and design are shown in Fig. 3. Two types of limestone (Granukal 35% Ca, 1.4% Mg and Dolomite 20% Ca, 12% Mg) were applied in the experiment.



Fig. 3. The scheme of liming treatments superimposed on the nitrogen experiment.

3.4 Soil sampling 2012

On the 3rd of July, 2012, soil samples were collected from all subplots in the experiment with an Eijkelkamp core auger (3 cm in diameter), 6 cores from each plot. Grass was removed and the soil samples were divided into two depths, 0-5 and 5-10 cm with the help of knife and ruler (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. The experimental field at Sámsstaðir where subplots were bordered by rope (left). Soil samples from a subplot (middle). Cutting process of soil sample (right).

3.5 Laboratory work and pH analysis

All 160 soil samples were transported from the field to the laboratory of the Soil Conservation Service of Iceland (SCSI) in Gunnarsholt on the 3^{rd} of July, 2012. The soil samples were airdried at room temperature for a week and kept in a thermostat (Avesta Sheffield) at $30\pm3^{\circ}$ C. The larger roots of grasses were removed and soils were sieved through 2 mm size mesh before pH measurements.

The pH analysis was implemented in the laboratory of the Agricultural University of Iceland at Hvanneyri.

A subsample of soil was placed into a 25 ml glass beaker (2-3 teaspoonfuls). Distilled water was added to the soil and mixed with a spoon until it was like a thin pudding. After 60 minutes standing time, the mixture was stirred again before introducing a pH electrode into it. Two buffers 4.0 and 7.0 were used for calibration of the electrode. Soil samples with known pH were used as reference samples.

3.6 Statistical analysis

To test whether the lime and nitrogen treatments had had an effect on soil pH, a multi-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) was carried out. The factors included in the model were: nitrogen treatment, lime treatment, soil depth and replicates along with interactions. Factors not found significant at α =0.05 were removed from the model. All pairwise comparisons were done using the Tukey test (α =0.05). Regression was done to investigate the relationship between pH level and amount of lime (35% Ca, 1.4% Mg) applied. All statistical analysis was carried out using the statistical software R, version 2.15 (R Development Core Team 2012).

4. RESULTS

Multi-factorial ANOVA was performed on the data set (Table 4) and the main results of the experiment are presented in Tables 5 and 6. The pH was significantly affected by nitrogen treatments in the old experiment, by lime treatment in the new experiment and by soil depth. Significant interactions between soil depth and lime treatment, and between soil depth and nitrogen treatment were also found. That is, the effects of lime and nitrogen were not the same in both soil layers.

Table 4. The significant differences of soil pH values with soil depth, nitrogen and lime treatment factors and its interaction level in multi-factorial ANOVA.

Factors	Df	SS	MS	F	P-value
Replication	3	0.031	0.010	1.539	0.207
Soil depth	1	2.500	2.500	374.137	< 0.001
Nitrogen treatment	4	1.441	0.360	53.911	< 0.001
Lime treatment	3	1.407	0.469	70.188	< 0.001
Soil depths * Lime treatment	3	0.837	0.279	41.751	< 0.001
Soil depths * Nitrogen treatment	4	0.097	0.024	3.621	0.007
Residuals	141	0.942	0.007		

Table 5. Soil *pH* at 0-5 cm depth in plots with different lime and nitrogen treatments.

		0-5 cm layer						
Nitrogen (kg/na)		Liming treatment						
NH ₄ NO ₃	Zero	2 tons ^a	4 tons ^a	4 tons ^b				
60	5.93	6.18	6.37	6.37				
120	5.98	6.26	6.35	6.38				
150	5.98	6.18	6.39	6.36				
180	5.92	6.20	6.34	6.31				
240	5.79	6.05	6.26	6.07				
Average	5.92	6.17	6.34	6.30				
SD			0.08					

^a Granukal lime contained 35% Ca, 1.4% Mg

^b Dolomite lime contained 20% Ca, 12% Mg.

Table 6. Soil *pH* at 5-10 cm depth in plots with different lime and nitrogen treatments.

Nitrogen (kg/ha)		5-1 Limir	0 cm layer 1g treatment	
NH ₄ NO ₃	Zero	2 tons ^a	4 tons ^a	4 tons ^b
60	5.98	6.09	5.99	5.99
120	5.98	6.04	6.02	6.08
150	5.96	5.95	6.04	5.98
180	5.87	5.96	5.95	5.97
240	5.67	5.72	5.76	5.67
Average	5.89	5.95	5.95	5.94
SD			0.08	

^a Granukal lime contained 35% Ca, 1.4% Mg

^b Dolomite lime contained 20% Ca, 12% Mg.

Therefore, ANOVA analysis was done separately for each depth of soil layers (Tables B and C in appendices). The pH values were affected by nitrogen treatment in both soil layers (p<0.001), while liming effect was only significant in the 0-5 cm soil layer (p<0.001), though it was not far from being significant (p = 0.07) in the 5-10 cm soil layer. The Tukey test showed significant differences between all lime treatments, except the two treatments with 4 tons of lime (different percentages of calcium and magnesium). There was a significant difference among nitrogen treatments as well. The highest amount of nitrogen (N240) was significantly different from all the other nitrogen treatments in both soil layers (p<0.001). There were no significant differences among the other nitrogen treatments, except between N180 and N120 treatments in the 5-10 cm soil layer (p = 0.01).

Soil pH did not differ considerably among nitrogen treatments in non-limed plots, except for the highest treatments (N180 and N240). The pH values in the 0-5 cm layer ranged from 5.92-5.98 for treatments with 60, 120, 150 and 180 kg N/ha but was 5.79 in plots that received 240 kg N/ha (Table 5). In the 5-10 cm soil layer the pH was 5.87 and 5.67 respectively in plots that received 180 and 240 kg N/ha (Table 6).

4.1 Change in pH with time in unlimed plots

According to the data from 2005 there was a significant effect of nitrogen treatments on soil pH (p<0.001). After 42 years of fertilization the pH results were 5.49, 5.47, 5.41, 5.37 and 4.93 in plots treated with 60, 120, 150, 180 and 240 kg N/ha, respectively, in the 0-5 cm soil layer. It dropped with increased amounts of nitrogen in the 5-10 cm soil layer as well. In non-fertilised soil outside the experiment, the mean values of soil pH were 5.93 and 6.02 in the 0-5 and 5-10 cm soil layers, respectively (Table 1).

A considerable increase in soil pH was revealed in untreated plots from 2005 to 2012 (Figs. 5 and 6). Soil pH in the 0-5 cm layer increased by 0.4, 0.5, 0.6, 0.6 and 0.9 units in plots that had recieved 60, 120, 150, 180 and 240 kg N/ha, respectively. It did not increase as much in the lower layer. The most increase in the pH was in plots with the lowest pH values in both soil layers (Figs. 5 and 6). After seven years without any fertilization the pH level of the soil had recovered to its natural state, except in the most acid plots. The soil pH in non-fertilized soil was 5.93 and 6.02 in 0-5 and 5-10 cm soil layers, respectively in the 2005 data (Table 1). The results in 2012 showed 5.92 and 5.89 to be the average values for non-limed plots of the different nitrogen treatments in the 0-5 and 5-10 cm soil layers, respectively (Tables 5 and 6).

4.2 Liming effect on soil pH values

Lime treatment performed four years ago significantly affected soil pH in addition to the natural changes through time (p<0.001) in the 0-5 cm soil layer. Soil pH changed slightly in the 5-10 cm soil layer as well. Soil pH increased with the rate of lime applied. The average pH of soil in the 0-5 cm layer increased by 0.25 units (5.92 - 6.17) in plots receiving 2 tons of lime, whilst it resulted in 0.42 units (5.92 - 6.34) in plots which received 4 tons of lime per hectare (Tables 5 and 6).

There was a linear relationship between pH and amount of lime which showed an increase in pH with increasing lime, but the relationship was different between the two soil layers (p<0.001). The increase in pH by lime amount was higher in the 0-5 cm soil layer than the 5-10 cm, as mentioned earlier. In the 0-5 cm topsoil layer the pH increased by 0.1 unit for each ton of lime (p<0.001) and in the 5-10 cm soil layer the increase in pH was 0.01 with each ton

increase in lime (p = 0.017). The relationship between pH and lime was the same for all N treatments (Figs. 7 and 8).



Fig. 5. Change in soil *pH* from 2005-2012 in 0-5 cm soil layer in unlimed plots at three different nitrogen treatments.



Fig. 6. Change in soil *pH* from 2005-2012 in 5-10 cm soil layer in unlimed plots at three different nitrogen treatments.



Fig. 7. Predicted pH values for lime (35% Ca, 1.4% Mg) and average pH values for lime (20% Ca, 12% Mg) at 0-5 cm soil layer.



Fig. 8. Predicted pH values for lime (Ca 35%, 1.4% Mg) and average pH values for lime (Ca 20%, Mg 12%) at 5-10 cm soil layer.

5. DISCUSSION

5.1 Soil pH changes in non-limed plots

After seven years without nitrogen fertilization the soil pH level had increased in all nonlimed plots, especially in the most acid plots. The experiment was implemented on Silandic Andosol (Thorvaldsson et al. 2008; Gudmundsson 2008) which is rich in rock minerals (Arnalds 2004). The unexpected increase in the pH of the topsoil was probably due to mineralization of the basic cations from rock minerals such as olivine and apatite induced by H^+ which was released from the nitrogen treatment. This mineralization process was likely more intense in the plots with the lowest pH because the acid environment stimulated the mineralization process. The soil system controls the released H^+ by alkalinizing processes where H^+ ions are consumed in the system (Brady & Weil 2008).

However, it should also be mentioned that there was a volcanic eruption in Eyjafjallajökull in 2010, close to the study area. Ash did not fall in that area but ash particles might still have come, blown by wind. In this part of Iceland it is common that dry winds bring soil particles over the area. This could have contributed to the pH increase. Aeolian particles weathered from basaltic tephras would increase soil pH by charging the soil system with basic cations in the topsoil (Arnalds 2004; 2008). It is remarkable how much the soil pH had increased by mineralization and the possible effect of ash and aeolian particles. These effects were even higher than the lime effects.

5.2 Liming effect on soil pH in topsoil

The positive effect of liming on soil pH in topsoil is well known (Poozesh et al. 2010; Higgins et al. 2012; Marcelo et al. 2012). In this experiment each ton of lime increased the soil pH by 0.1 pH units. The effect of liming on soil pH was linear up to 4 tons. Jóhannesson and Kristjánsdóttir (1954) studied bogs in northern and southern Iceland and found a linear increase in pH up to high pH levels with increased lime. The increase in pH in their study was 0.12 pH units per ton lime in the north but 0.15 in the southern part of Iceland. The northern soil showed a greater exchange capacity than the southern one. A recent study on liming showed a linear effect up to 3.6 ton ha⁻¹, and the increase in pH was 0.2 pH units per ton of lime (Marcelo et al. 2012).

6. CONCLUSIONS

This study showed positive changes in soil pH after nitrogen fertilization was stopped. The soil pH increased considerably in non-limed plots. A certain break time after N fertilization could therefore be a natural solution to low pH if funds for liming are not available.

Liming application had significant effects on soil pH in the 0-5 cm soil layer, and it had started to affect the pH in the 5-10 cm layer as well. Soil pH increased by 0.1 units per ton applied. From this experiment, performed on Silandic Andosol, application of 1 ton of lime is recommended to increase soil pH in the 0-5 cm soil layer by 0.1 pH units.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My sincere gratitude is addressed to all the staff members and lecturers of the UNU-LRT Programme, especially to directors Hafdis Hanna Ægisdóttir (PhD) and Berglind Orradóttir (MSc). I express my thanks to the staff members of the Agricultural University of Iceland (AUI) and Soil Conservation Service of Iceland (SCSI) who shared knowledge and experience during the lectures and field trips as well as practicalities in laboratory analysis. I am also thankful to the Government of Iceland for financial support in organizing the programme and giving opportunities to us to enlarge our knowledge and skills in Iceland.

My special thanks go to Professor Guðni Þorvaldsson and Ms Erla Sturludóttir who professionally assisted me in the preparation and completion of this report. I am very thankful for the help of Anna Sigridur Valdimarsdóttir and my supervisors in the field work at Sámsstaðir. I acknowledge all my friends whom I made in Iceland as well as my colleagues in the UNU-LRT Programme for their warm communication and the experience we have shared during our stay in Iceland. My special thanks go to Jesaya Nakanyala for his support in statistics and introducing the "R" software for statistical analysis.

I am also thankful to my family members for their understanding of my absence and moral support during my stay in the training programme in Iceland.

REFERENCES

Antoniadis, V., K. Damalidis, and A. Dimirkou. 2012. Availability of Cu and Zn in an acidic sludge-amended soil as affected by zeolite application and liming. Journal of Soils and Sediments **12:**396-401.

Arnalds, Ó. 2004. Volcanic soils of Iceland. Catena 56:3-20.

Arnalds, Ó. 2008. Soils of Iceland. JÖKULL 58:409-421.

Arnalds, Ó., and J. Kimble. 2001. Andisols of deserts in Iceland. Soil Science Society of America **65**:1778–1786.

Auclerc, A., J. Nahmani, D. Aran, V. Baldy, H. Callot, C. Gers, E. Iorio, E. Lapied, A. Lassauce, A. Pasquet, J. Spelda, J.-P. Rossi, and F. Guérold. 2012. Changes in soil macroinvertebrate communities following liming of acidified forested catchments in the Vosges Mountains (North-Eastern France). Ecological Engineering **42**:260-269.

Bartoli, F., A. J. Poulenard, and B. E. Schouller. 2007. Influence of allophane and organic matter contents on surface properties of Andosols. European Journal of Soil Science **58**:450-464.

Baumann, J., G. Werner, and W. Moll. 1998. Compaction and surface sealing. Pages 573-580 in H. P. Blume, H. Eger, E. Fleischhauer, A. Hebel, C. Reij and K. G. Steiner, editors. Towards sustainable land use: Furthering coopertaion between people and institutions. Volume 1. Catena Verlag, Reiskirchen, Germany.

Berthrong, S. T., E. G. Jobbagy, and A. R. B. Jackson. 2009. A global meta-analysis of soil exchangeable cations, pH, carbon, and nitrogen with afforestation. Ecological Applications **19:**2228–2241.

Brady, N. C., and R. R. Weil. 2008. The nature and properties of soils. Pearson Education Inc., New Jersey, USA.

Brallier, S., R. B. Harison, C. L. Henry, and X. Dongsen. 1996. Liming Effects on availability of Cd, Cu, Ni, and Zn in a soil amended with sewage sludge 16 years previously. Water, Air and Soil Pollution **86:**195-206.

Briedis, C., J. C. D. M. Sá, E. F. Caires, J. D. F. Navarro, T. M. Inagaki, A. Boer, C. Q. Neto, A. D. O. Ferreira, L. B. Canalli, and J. B. D. Santos. 2012. Soil organic matter pools and carbon-protection mechanisms in aggregate classes influenced by surface liming in a no-till system. Geoderma **170**:80-88.

Brynjolfsson, R. 2008. Two long-term experiments in Hvanneyri, Iceland. Pages 44-47 in B. T. Christensen, J. Petersen and M. Schacht, editors. Long-term field experiments: A unique research platform. Proceedings of the NJF Seminar 407, Denmark, June 16-18, 2008. DJF Plant Science, Denmark.

Carter, C. M., H. A. Vander Sloot, and D. Cooling. 2009. pH-dependent extraction of soil and soil amendments to understand the factors controlling element mobility. European Journal of Soil Science **60**:622-637.

Castro, J. I. R., J. I. Prosser, C. M. Scrimgeour, P. Smith, N. Ostle, P. Ineson, A. Meharg, and K. Killham. 2004. Carbon flow in an upland grassland: Effect of liming on the flux of recently photosynthesized carbon to rhizosphere soil. Global Change Biology **10**:2100-2108.

Castro, J. I. R., Jim I. Prosser, Nick Ostle, Charlie M. Scrimgeour, K. Killham, and A. A. Meharg. 2005. Flux and turnover of fixed carbon in soil microbial biomass of limed and unlimed plots of an upland grassland ecosystem. Environmental Microbiology **7:**544–552.

Chalmers, A. G. 2001. A review of fertilizer, lime and organic manure use on farm crops in Great Britain from 1983 to 1987. Soil Use and Management **17:**254-262.

Chen, W., C. Feng, W. Guo, D. Shi, and C. Yang. 2011. Comparative effects of osmotic-, salt- and alkali stress on growth, photosynthesis, and osmotic adjustment of cotton plants. Photosynthetica **49:**417-425.

Christie, T., B. Thompson, and B. Brathwaite. 2001. Mineral commodity report 21 – limestone, marble and dolomite. New Zealand Mining **29:**6-25.

Dümig, A., P. Schad, M. Kohok, P. Beyerlein, W. Schwimmer, and I. Kögel-Knabner. 2008. A mosaic of nonallophanic Andosols, Umbrisols and Cambisols on rhyodacite in the southern Brazilian highlands. Geoderma **145:**158-173.

Elberling, B., and H. Matthiesen. 2007. Methodologically controlled variations in laboratory and field pH measurements in waterlogged soils. European Journal of Soil Science **58**:207-214.

FAO. 2006. World reference base for soil resources 2006. FAO, Rome.

FAO. 2012. Harmonized World Soil Database. FAO, Rome.

Farley, K. A., and E. F. Kelly. 2004. Effects of afforestation of a páramo grassland on soil nutrient status. Forest Ecology and Management **195**:281-290.

Gudmundsson, T. S. 2008. Long-term usage of phosphorus in permanent grassland in Iceland. Pages 60-63 in B. T. Christensen, J. Petersen and M. Schacht, editors. Long-term field experiments: A unique research platform. Proceedings of the NJF Seminar 407, Denmark, June 16-18, 2008. DJF Plant Science, Denmark.

Gudmundsson, T., H. Björnsson, and G. Thorvaldsson. 2004. Organic carbon accumulation and pH changes in an Andic Gleysol under a long-term fertilizer experiment in Iceland. Catena **56**:213-224.

Gudmundsson, T., G. Thorvaldsson and H. Bjornsson. 2008. The effect of different types of fertilisers on the nutrient status in Icelandic Andosols as found in three long-term experiments. Pages 64-67 in B. T. Christensen, J. Petersen and M. Schacht, editors. Long-term field experiments: A unique research platform. Proceedings of the NJF Seminar 407, Denmark, June 16-18, 2008. DJF Plant Science, Denmark.

Haigh, M. J. 1998. Effects of mining industries and disposal sites. Pages 775-779 in H. P. Blume, H. Eger, E. Fleischhauer, A. Hebel, C. Reij and K. G. Steiner, editors. Towards sustainable land use: Furthering coopertaion between people and institutions. Volume 1. Catena Verlag, Reiskirchen, Germany.

Haynes, R. J., and R. Naidu. 1998. Influence of lime, fertilizer and manure applications on soil organic matter content and soil physical conditions: A review. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems **51**:123–137.

Higgins, S., S. Morrison, and C. J. Watson. 2012. Effect of annual applications of pelletized dolomitic lime on soil chemical properties and grass productivity. Soil Use and Management **28:**62-69.

Jóhannesson, B., and K. Kristjánsdóttir. 1954. Chemical properties of bog soils in the South and North of Iceland (in Icelandic). Department of Agriculture, Reports, Series B, No.6, Reykjavik.

Johnson, D., J. R. Leake, N. Ostle, P. Ineson, and D. J. Read. 2002. In situ ¹³CO₂ pulselabelling of upland grassland demonstrates a rapid pathway of carbon flux from arbuscular mycorrhizal mycelia to the soil. New Phytologist **153**:327–334.

Kaihura, F. B. S., I. K. Kullaya, M. Kilasara, J. B. Aune, B. R. Singh, and R. Lal. 1998. Impacts of soil erosion on crop productivity. Pages 375-381 in H. P. Blume, H. Eger, E. Fleischhauer, A. Hebel, C. Reij and K. G. Steiner, editors. Towards sustainable land use: Furthering coopertaion between people and institutions. Volume 1. Catena Verlag, Reiskirchen, Germany.

Kusa, K., R. Hu, T. Sawamoto, and R. Hatano. 2006. Three years of nitrous oxide and nitric oxide emissions from silandic andosols cultivated with maize in Hokkaido, Japan. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition **52**:103-113.

Marcelo, A. V., J. E. Cora, and N. L. Scala. 2012. Influence of Liming on Residual Soil Respiration and Chemical Properties in a Tropical No-Tillage System. Brazilian Journal of Soil Science **36**:45-50.

Masharipova, S. 2006. Application of defecation lime from sugar industry in Uzbekistan. MSc Dissertation, Department of Industrial Ecology, Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, Sweden.

Mitchell, A. D., and P. J. Smethurst. 2004. Surface soil changes in base cation concentrations in fertilised hardwood and softwood plantations in Australia. Forest Ecology and Management **191:**253-265.

Oh, N-H., and D. D. Richter. 2004. Soil acidification induced by elevated atmospheric CO₂. Global Change Biology **10**:1936-1946.

Pinto, M., M. Rodriguez, G. Besga, N. Balcazar, and F. A. Lopez. 1995. Effects of Linz-Donawitz (LD) slag on soil properties and pasture production in the Basque country (Northern Spain). New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research **38**:143-155.

Poozesh, V., P. Castillon, P. Cruz, and G. Bertoni. 2010. Re-evaluation of the liming-fertilization interaction in grasslands on poor and acid soils. Grass and Forage Science **65**:260-272.

Ridley, A. M., R. E. White, K. R. Helyar, G. R. Morrison, L. K. Heng, and R. Fisher. 2001. Nitrate leaching loss under annual and perennial pastures with and without lime on a duplex (texture contrast) soil in humid southeastern Australia. European Journal of Soil Science **52**:237-252.

Rowell, D. L. 1994. Soil science: Methods and applications. Longman Group, Essex, UK.

Shi, D., and D. Wang. 2005. Effects of various salt-alkaline mixed stresses on Aneurolepidium chinense (Trin.) Kitag. Plant and Soil **271**:15-26.

Sims, T. J. 1996. Lime requirement. Pages 491-515 in J. M. Bartels, and J. M. Bigham, editors. Methods of soil analysis. Part-3. Soil Science Society of America and American Society of Agronomy, Madison, WI, USA.

Smith, J. L., J. J. Halvorson, and H. Bolton. 2002. Soil properties and microbial activity across a 500 m elevation gradient in a semi-arid environment **34**:1749–1757.

Sustr, V., J. Chalupsky, and V. Kristufek. 1997. Effects of artificial acidification and liming on the activity of digestive enzymes in Cognettia sphagnetorum (Vejdovsky, 1878) (Annelida, Enchytraeidae). Biology and Fertility of Soils **24:**227-230.

Thomas, G. W. 1996. Soil pH and soil acidity. Pages 475-490 in J. M. Bartels, and J. M. Bigham, editors. Methods of soil analysis. Part-3. Soil Science Society of America and American Society of Agronomy, Madison, WI, USA.

Thorvaldsson, G., Th. Gudmundsson and H. Bjornsson. 2008. Long term experiments in Iceland. Pages 86-88 in B. T. Christensen, J. Petersen and M. Schacht, editors. Long-term field experiments: A unique research platform. Proceedings of the NJF Seminar 407, Denmark, June 16-18, 2008. DJF Plant Science, Denmark.

Thorvaldsson, G., Th. Gudmundsson, and H. Bjornsson. 2008. Long-term effects of fertiliser treatments on botanical composition on permanent grassland in Iceland. Pages 48-51 in B. T. Christensen, J. Petersen and M. Schacht, editors. Long-term field experiments: A unique research platform. Proceedings of the NJF Seminar 407, Denmark, June 16-18, 2008. DJF Plant Science, Denmark.

Tunney, H., F. J. Sikora, D. Kissel, A. Wolf, L. Sonon, and K. Goulding. 2010. A comparison of lime requirements by five methods on grassland mineral soils in Ireland. Soil Use and Management **26**:126-132.

Yuan, J. H., and R. K. Xu 2011. The amelioration effects of low temperature biochar generated from nine crop residues on an acidic Ultisol. Soil Use and Management **27:**110-115.

Veðráttan. 1962. Monthly and annual weather report. Icelandic Meteorological Office, Reykjavik (in Icelandic).

Zhou, Z., G. Zhang, X. Song, S. Du, and G. Liu 2010. Soil acidification with various planting patterns in Lhasa, Tibet, China. Soil solutions for a changing world 2010: Proceedings of the 19th World Congress of Soil Science, Brisbane, Australia, August 1-6.

APPENDIX 1

	J 1					
Topsoil at 0-5 and 5-10 cm layers						
Factors	Df	SS	MS	F	P-value	
Replication	3	0.024	0.008	1.157	0.342	
Soil depth	1	0.438	0.438	62.626	< 0.001	
Nitrogen	4	2.247	0.561	80.155	< 0.001	
Residuals	31	0.217	0.007			

A) Result of ANOVA of pH values in 0-5 and 5-10 cm soil layer in 2005.

B) Result of ANOVA of pH values in 0-5 cm soil layer in 2012.

0-5 cm soil layer							
Factors	Df	SS	MS	F	P-value		
Replication	3	0.053	0.017	2.766	0.048		
Lime	3	2.195	0.731	113.558	< 0.001		
Nitrogen	4	0.409	0.102	15.883	< 0.001		
Residuals	69	0.444	0.006				

C) Result of ANOVA of pH values in 5-10 cm soil layer in 2012.

5-10 cm soil layer						
Factors	Df	SS	MS	F	P-value	
Replication	3	0.023	0.007	1.196	0.318	
Lime	3	0.048	0.016	2.484	0.068	
Nitrogen	4	1.128	0.282	43.115	< 0.001	
Residuals	69	0.451	0.006			

D) Results of regression analysis of pH value at 0-5 cm soil layer.

$R^2 = 0.83$		Topsoil at 0-5	cm layer	
N-treatment	Estimate	Std. Error	t value	P-value
Intercept	5.944	0.027	219.73	< 0.001
N120	0.037	0.033	1.118	0.268
N150	0.025	0.033	0.745	0.459
N180	-0.005	0.033	-0.174	0.862
N240	-0.124	0.033	-3.7	< 0.001
Slope	0.106	0.006	16.389	< 0.001

E) Results of regression analysis of pH value at 5-10 cm soil layer.

$R^2 = 0.69$	Topsoil at 5-10 cm layer			
N-treatment	Estimate	Std. Error	t value	P-value
Intercept	5.988	0.025	236.558	< 0.001
N120	-0.005	0.031	-0.186	0.853
N150	-0.035	0.031	-1.115	0.269
N180	-0.091	0.031	-2.919	0.005
N240	-0.303	0.031	-9.661	< 0.001
Slope	0.015	0.006	2.467	0.016